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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 
CARLOS ENRIQUE LUNA LAM, and 
IGLESIA CRISTIANA CASA DE DIOS 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
               v. 
 
UNIVISION COMMUNICATIONS, INC.,  
UNIVISION INTERACTIVE MEDIA, INC., 
THE UNIVISION NETWORK LIMITED 
PARTNERSHIP, GERARDO REYES, and 
PENILEY RAMÍREZ 
 
  Defendants. 
 

 
 
     CASE NO.:     
               
                
 
 

 
 

COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
 
 Plaintiffs, Carlos Enrique Luna Lam (“Pastor Luna”) and Iglesia Cristiana Casa de Dios 

(“Casa de Dios”) (collectively, “Plaintiffs”), by and through their undersigned counsel, file this 

Complaint against Defendants, Univision Communications, Inc., Univision Interactive Media, 

Inc., The Univision Network Limited Partnership, Gerardo Reyes, and Peniley Ramírez  

(collectively, “Defendants” or “Univision”), and allege as follows: 

SUMMARY OF CASE 

1. Pastor Luna is an internationally renowned pastor, speaker and author, and the co-

founder of Casa de Dios, an influential Christian church based in Guatemala.  Pastor Luna and his 

wife, Sonia Luna, founded Casa de Dios in 1994 with an initial congregation of three families.  

Over the past twenty-five years, Casa de Dios has grown to more than 25,000 members, with a 

large and devoted following throughout Latin America and Spanish-speaking communities in the 

United States.  According to Univision, Pastor Luna is one of the most influential individuals in 
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Guatemala and Casa de Dios as one of the largest Christian churches in Latin America. 

2. Univision operates the largest Spanish-language television network, and the fifth 

largest television network of any kind, in the United States, with affiliates in all major American 

cities, as well as the Univision.com website, which is one of the most popular Spanish-language 

news websites in the United States.   

3. In an attempt to capitalize on the popularity of Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios, and 

destroy their hard-earned reputations, Univision concocted a series of fictitious, defamatory and 

highly inflammatory stories about Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios, which were designed to attract 

viewers to Univision’s television network and website, and gain a tremendous economic benefit 

through the viewership and corresponding advertising revenue. 

4. On December 2, 2018, Univision published the story entitled “Magnates of the 

Lord,” in both a television broadcast and an article on its website.  This story contained numerous 

false and defamatory statements about Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios.  Thereafter, Univision 

published no less than seven (7) follow-up stories that republished many of the same defamatory 

statements in the original story. 

5. The defamatory statements by Univision falsely accuse Pastor Luna of, among other 

things, accepting and laundering large amounts of money from a convicted drug trafficker, Marllory 

Chacón Rosell (“Ms. Chacón”), and using that money to build a new church for Casa de Dios.  

These allegations are 100% false and completely baseless.  Pastor Luna never received any money 

from Ms. Chacón, nor did Casa de Dios use any money from Ms. Chacón, or anyone affiliated with 

her, for any purpose, including to build a new church. 

6. Univision’s defamatory statements rely almost exclusively upon a single source, 

Jorge Mauricio Herrera Bernal (“Mr. Bernal”), an admitted drug smuggler for a Colombian cartel 
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whose own lawyer stated on the public court record—before Univision published its stories about 

Plaintiffs—that Mr. Bernal was “delusional and paranoid.”  In addition, the Broward County trial 

judge presiding over felony charges against Mr. Bernal for attempted murder and false 

imprisonment found “that there are reasonable grounds to believe that [Mr. Bernal] is not mentally 

competent.”   

7. These statements regarding Mr. Bernal’s mental competency occurred shortly before 

Mr. Bernal was interviewed by Univision.  Shortly after Univision interviewed him, Mr. Bernal 

was arrested by U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement (“ICE”) and deported to Colombia.  

8. Moreover, between October 2017 and May 2018, while Mr. Bernal was in jail for 

attempted murder and false imprisonment, he filed nine (9) pro se lawsuits against, among others, 

the trial judge presiding over his criminal case, various lawyers involved in that case, numerous 

Broward County Sheriff sergeants and deputies, several DEA agents, and the President and First 

Lady of the United States.  These publicly filed lawsuits raised additional significant red flags 

regarding Mr. Bernal’s mental competency and credibility, which Univision ignored when it 

published the false and defamatory statements about Plaintiffs. 

9. Univision’s actions, as explained in greater detail herein, are the very definition of 

actual malice and reckless disregard for the truth. 

10. Univision’s vast distribution network, including television and the internet via its 

website and social media accounts, widely disseminated Univision’s defamatory statements about 

Plaintiffs to readers and viewers throughout the United States and Latin America, thereby causing 

substantial harm to Plaintiffs’ reputations.  Additionally, numerous other media outlets foreseeably 

republished, and continue to republish, Univision’s false statements about Plaintiffs, thereby further 

compounding the harm inflicted upon Plaintiffs.  Univision’s statements also have resulted in 
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Plaintiffs being required to incur substantial expense to cooperate with investigations by authorities 

in Guatemala, none of which has found any wrongdoing whatsoever.   

11. Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios bring this lawsuit to protect their integrity and hard-

earned reputations, as well as to stand up for justice and send a message that a powerful media 

organization like Univision cannot expect to get away with publishing outright lies without 

consequences.  In doing so, Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios are taking a stand against unethical 

“journalism” and fake news and their harmful effects, and doing so on behalf of all victims of such 

wrongful conduct, in hopes that such wrongful conduct can be eradicated. 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

12. This is an action for defamation seeking damages in excess of the jurisdictional 

minimum of $15,000, exclusive of attorney’s fees and costs, as well as for injunctive relief. 

13. Plaintiff, Carlos Enrique Luna Lam is an individual domiciled in Guatemala, with a 

significant number of followers throughout Latin America and the United States, including in 

Miami-Dade County, Florida. 

14. Plaintiff, Iglesia Cristiana Casa de Dios is an evangelical church organized and 

existing under the laws of the country of Guatemala, that operates throughout Latin America, with 

its principal place of operation in Guatemala, and a large following in the United States, including 

Miami-Dade County, Florida. 

15. On information and belief, Defendant Univision Communications, Inc., is a 

Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in New York, New York.  

16. Defendant, Univision Interactive Media, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its 

principal place of business in New York, New York.  
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17. The Univision Network Limited Partnership is a Delaware corporation with its 

principal place of business in Miami, Florida.   

18. Univision owns and operates the Univision television network, a nationwide 

television network and media company with affiliates in every major American market.  Univision 

also owns and operates the Univision.com website.  Univision maintains a large office and 

television studio in Miami-Dade County, Florida and produces many of its programs here, including 

the television program at issue in this case, Aqui y Ahora. 

19. On information and belief, Defendant, Gerardo Reyes is an individual residing in 

Florida whose principal place of business is in Miami-Dade County, Florida, where he works for 

Univision as a reporter. 

20. On information and belief, Defendant, Peniley Ramírez is an individual residing in 

Florida whose principal place of business is in Miami-Dade County, Florida, where she works for 

Univision as a reporter. 

21. Venue is proper in Miami-Dade County because at least one of the Defendants 

resides and/or maintains a usual and customary place of business in Miami-Dade County. 

22. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants under § 48.193, Florida 

Statutes, because they each personally, in concert with one another and/or through an agency 

relationship, engaged in one or more of the following: 

a. committed tortious acts within Florida; 

b. committed intentional torts expressly aimed at Plaintiffs in Florida, the 

effects of which were suffered in Florida; 

c. operated, conducted, engaged in or carried on business or business 

ventures in Florida, or had an office in this State; and/or 
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d. engaged in substantial and not isolated activity within Florida. 

23. Sufficient minimum contacts exist between each Defendant and the State of Florida 

to satisfy due process under the U.S. Constitution because Defendants have engaged in substantial 

and not isolated activity within Florida, reside or maintain offices in Florida, and/or committed or 

conspired to commit intentional torts expressly aimed at Plaintiffs in Florida, the effects and harms 

of which were calculated to and did cause injury to Plaintiffs in Florida, such that Defendants should 

have reasonably anticipated being sued by Plaintiffs in Florida. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios 

24. Pastor Luna and his wife, Sonia Luna, founded Casa de Dios on September 11, 1994.  

In its first year, Casa de Dios moved from a family living room, to a hotel ballroom, and then to the 

main auditorium at the Chamber of Industry of Guatemala.  In 1995, Casa de Dios moved to a 

building in Guatemala with 550 seats known as “La Bodeguita.” 

25. In July 1999, to accommodate its growing congregation, Casa de Dios began 

construction on a new church facility in San Jose Pinula, Guatemala.  On September 9, 2001, Casa 

de Dios inaugurated the new facility, known as Temple Pinula, which has seating for 3,500 people 

and parking for 1,000 vehicles. 

26. By 2008, more than 20,000 people were attending six services at Temple Pinula each 

week.  In January 2008, to accommodate its further growing congregation, Casa de Dios began 

construction on another new church facility in Fraijanes, Guatemala.  During the following five 

years of construction, Casa de Dios made a substantial contribution to the local economy by 

employing over 1,200 workers, and subcontracting over 50 Guatemalan businesses. 
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27. On April 27, 2013, Casa de Dios inaugurated the new facility, known as Temple 

Fraijanes, which has seating for 11,000 people and parking for 3,500 vehicles.  Temple Fraijanes is 

one of the largest churches in the world, and the second largest in Guatemala, with a total area of 

2.9 million square feet.  In addition to the main auditorium, the facilities at Case de Dios include 

two theaters, two sports centers, landscaped pedestrian pathways, seven acres of green space and 

more than 1,500 trees.  The inauguration of Temple Fraijanes was transmitted to millions of viewers 

around Latin America via the internet and to more than one million people in Guatemala via 

television.  

28. Presently, Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios hold weekly services at Temple Pinula and 

Temple Friajanes, both of which are regularly filled to capacity.  Casa de Dios also produces: a 

daily television broadcast on Enlace, a Christian television network based in San José, Costa Rica, 

which is the highest-rated Christian television program in Latin America; daily television 

broadcasts on Azteca Guatemala and Canal Antigua, both of which are Guatemalan public 

television stations; and, a daily radio broadcast on Radio Actitud, a Christian radio station in 

Guatemala.  In 2018, Pastor Luna was named the most outstanding minister of the year by Enlace 

and the Association of Evangelical Ministers of Guatemala.   

29. Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios also maintain an active calendar of faith-based 

programs and events, including two annual international conferences in Guatemala, the Ensancha 

leadership conference and the Hechos youth conference, which have served to educate and train 

thousands of leaders, pastors and young people throughout Latin America since their inception in 

2001.  Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios have also held more than 100 healing events in 22 countries, 

known as Nights of Glory, which regularly attract large audiences.  For example, the Nights of 
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Glory event in Valencia, Venezuela drew over 300,000 people in two days, and the Nights of Glory 

event in Long Island, New York drew over 40,000 people in two days.  

30. In addition to its many faith-based initiatives, since 2006, Casa de Dios has operated 

a monthly food bank that distributes over 2 million meals annually to needy families in Guatemala 

through its partner social outreach institutions.  Casa de Dios also regularly coordinates medical 

outreach campaigns with a team of professionals to provide medical and dental care to individuals 

who cannot otherwise obtain or afford it, and provides support to more than 100 widows in the 

community who have no relatives. 

31. Casa de Dios, together with the help of countless volunteers from its congregation, 

has also provided vital aid to regions affected by natural disasters throughout Guatemala, including 

Hurricane Mitch in 1998, Hurricane Stan in 2005, the El Cambray II landslide in 2015, and the 

catastrophic volcanic eruption of Volcán de Fuego in June 2018, which impacted over 1.7 million 

people.  In the aftermath of Volcán de Fuego’s eruption, Casa de Dios and its volunteers distributed 

more than 50 tons of food, water, clothing and medicine, and organized a group of professionals to 

provide emotional support for those affected.  For its work after the eruption, Casa de Dios was 

given the “Hero de Transformacion” Award by the John C. Maxwell Leadership Foundation and 

Guatemala Prospera Organization. 

32. Pastor Luna also serves as the co-chair of the Latin American cabinet for 

Empowered 21, a global leadership organization headquartered in Tulsa, Oklahoma; has presided 

over the Apostolic Council in Guatemala for two periods, 2014 and 2016; and is an active member 

of the Evangelic Alliance of Guatemala and the Guatemalan Presbytery.  Pastor Luna has been a 

guest speaker in numerous international conferences throughout the world, including Australia, 

New Zealand, Russia, Spain, Italy, England, Brazil, China, the United States and numerous Latin 
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American countries.  Since 2017, Pastor Luna also has conducted a leadership training program 

named La Cantera, or “The Quarry,” which is based upon the organizational success of Casa de 

Dios, and has trained more than 600 leaders in various industries from throughout Latin America. 

33. Pastor Luna also is a best-selling author.  His first book, entitled In Honor of the 

Holy Spirit, has sold over 700,000 copies since it was published in July 2010, and has been named 

an Amazon Best Seller.  In Honor of the Holy Spirit was published in English in April 2012, Russian 

in 2016, Portuguese in August 2017, and Chinese in 2018.  Pastor Luna’s second book, entitled 22 

Days with the Holy Spirit, was published in September 2013, and his third book, entitled Not By 

Sight: Only Faith Opens Your Eyes, was published in February 2018.  Not By Sight: Only Faith 

Opens Your Eyes was listed in Amazon’s top selling books in its first month. 

34. Pastor Luna’s popularity also is reflected by his social media presence, where, as of 

the time of filing this Complaint, he has more than 6 million followers on Facebook, 1.4 million 

followers on Instagram, 903,000 followers on Twitter and 598,000 on subscribers on YouTube.  

Casa de Dios also has a substantial social media following, with 2.6 million followers on Facebook, 

425,000 followers on Instagram, 206,000 followers on Twitter and 134,000 on subscribers on 

YouTube.  Casa de Dios received the Premio Aguila (Eagle Award) for social networking at the 

annual Expolit conference in Miami, Florida in 2018, the largest convention for Christian media in 

Latin America.  This award recognized Casa de Dios for originality, effectiveness and impact in 

social networking. 

Univision’s False and Defamatory Articles 

35. Upon information and belief, Univision first met with Jorge Mauricio Herrera 

Bernal, an admitted drug smuggler for a Colombian cartel, on or about June 18, 2018, soon after 

Mr. Bernal’s release from prison on charges of attempted murder and false imprisonment. 



 

{00100747;1} 10 

36. While those charges against Mr. Bernal were pending, on August 16, 2017 and May 

14, 2018, the trial judge presiding over the case stated, in pertinent part: “It appear[s] unto this court 

that there are reasonable grounds to believe that [Mr. Bernal] is not mentally competent.”  On May 

10, 2018, Mr. Bernal’s attorney, stated: 

Undersigned counsel has met with [Mr. Bernal] and has observed 

the following: 

 a. [Mr. Bernal]’s statements were not responsive to questions 

or relevant to the conversation; 

 b.   [Mr. Bernal] continually repeated himself and could not 

communicate effectively with counsel; 

 c.  [Mr. Bernal] made several illogical and incoherent 

statements and exhibited delusional and paranoid behavior. 

(Emphasis added.) 

37. Between October 2017 and May 2018, Mr. Bernal filed nine (9) publicly available 

pro se lawsuits that include a variety of statements confirming the concerns raised by the trial judge 

and Mr. Bernal’s own lawyer regarding his mental competency.   

38. According to Univision, Mr. Bernal was arrested by ICE and deported to Colombia 

soon after being interviewed by Univision. 

39. Beginning on December 2, 2018 and continuing through March 7, 2019, Univision 

published a series of stories containing false and defamatory statements about Pastor Luna and Casa 

de Dios, based almost entirely upon statements by Mr. Bernal. 

40. On or about December 2, 2018, Univision broadcast a story on the Univision 

television network show, Aqui y Ahora, that consisted of two segments entitled, translated into 
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English, “Magnates of the Lord” and “Everything for Cash” (the “Broadcast”).  The false and 

defamatory statements contained in the Broadcast are listed in Exhibit 1 attached hereto. 

41. On or about December 2, 2018, Univision published a story written by Defendants, 

Gerardo Reyes and Peniley Ramírez on the Univision.com website with a headline that, when 

translated into English, reads “Magnates of the Lord” (the “First December 2, 2018 story”).  The 

First December 2, 2018 story contains libelous statements in the print portion of the Story, and 

slanderous statements in an embedded video containing the second segment of the Broadcast, 

entitled, when translated into English, “Everything for Cash.”  A copy of the print portion of the 

First December 2, 2018 story and a list of false and defamatory statements contained in that story 

are attached hereto as Exhibit 2. 

42. On or about December 2, 2018, Univision published a second story on the 

Univision.com website with a headline that, translated into English, reads “Where did the millions 

come from to finance their temple? The question that surrounds ‘The Casa de Dios’”) (the “Second 

December 2, 2018 story”).  The Second December 2, 2018 story contains a libelous headline, and 

republishes slanderous statements in the same embedded video as the First December 2, 2018 story.  

A copy of the print portion of the Second December 2, 2018 story and a list of false and defamatory 

statements contained in that story are attached hereto as Exhibit 3. 

43. On or about December 4, 2018, Univision published a story written by Defendants, 

Gerardo Reyes and Peniley Ramírez, on the Univision.com website with a headline that, when 

translated into English, reads “Guatemalan prosecutor’s office confirms investigation into Pastor 

‘Cash’ Luna due to report by Univision Investigates” (the “December 4, 2018 story”).  The 

December 4, 2018 story contains libelous statements in the print portion of the Story, and 

republishes slanderous statement in the same embedded video as the First December 2, 2018 story.  
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A copy of the print portion of the December 4, 2018 story and a list of false and defamatory 

statements contained in that story are attached hereto as Exhibit 4. 

44. On or about December 5, 2018, Univision published a story on the Univision.com 

website with a headline that, translated into English, reads “Guatemalan prosecutor’s office starts 

an investigation about the Pastor ‘Cash’ Luna of the church Casa de Dios” (the “December 5, 2018 

story”).  The December 5, 2018 story contains libelous statements in the print portion of the Story, 

and slanderous statements in an embedded video containing a new broadcast entitled, when 

translated into English, “Magnates of the Lord,” which appeared on the Univision television show, 

Noticiero Univision, on or about the same date.  A copy of the print portion of the December 5, 

2018 story and a list of false and defamatory statements contained in that story are attached hereto 

as Exhibit 5. 

45. On or about December 12, 2018, Univision published a story on the Univision.com 

website with a headline that, when translated into English, reads “Guatemalan pastor Cash Luna 

denies ‘link’ with drug trafficker”) (the “December 12, 2018 story.”)  A copy of the December 12, 

2018 story and a list of false and defamatory statements contained in that story are attached hereto 

as Exhibit 6.   

46. On or about December 13, 2018, Univision published an English-language version 

of the First December 2, 2018 story by Gerardo Reyes & Peniley Ramírez on the Univision.com 

website, bearing the headline “Magnates of the Lord” (the “First December 13, 2018 story”).  A 

copy of the First December 13, 2018 story and a list of false and defamatory statements contained 

in that story are attached hereto as Exhibit 7. 

47. On or about December 13, 2018, Univision published a second story in English on 

the Univision.com website, bearing the headline “Special report: Magnates of the Lord” (the 
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“Second December 13, 2018 story”).  A copy of the Second December 13, 2018 story and a list of 

false and defamatory statements contained in that story are attached hereto as Exhibit 8. 

48. On or about March 7, 2019, Univision published a story on the Univision.com 

website with a headline that, translated into English, reads “Free, ‘The Queen of the South’: how 

she discreetly managed to get out after spending less than 5 years in prison”) (the “March 7, 2019 

story”).  A copy of the March 7, 2019 story and a list of the false and defamatory statements 

contained in that story are attached hereto as Exhibit 9. 

49. The defamatory statements by Univision include multiple false, defamatory and 

outrageous assertions about Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios, including that:  Pastor Luna was a close 

advisor to convicted drug trafficker, Ms. Chacón; Pastor Luna asked Ms. Chacón for money and 

received large sums of money from her; Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios used money from Ms. 

Chacón to build a new church for Casa de Dios; and Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios engaged in 

money laundering for Ms. Chacón.  All of these allegations are completely false, and tremendously 

harmful to both Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios. 

50. In truth, Pastor Luna was not an advisor to Ms. Chacón in any capacity.  Pastor Luna 

had no connection to Ms. Chacón other than the knowledge that she allegedly purchased a 

residential property next to his residence, many years after Pastor Luna had purchased his property.  

Pastor Luna never requested or received any money from Ms. Chacón, nor did Casa de Dios use 

any money from Ms. Chacón for any purpose, including to build its new church.  Pastor Luna and 

Casa de Dios have never laundered money for anyone, including Ms. Chacón, have always 

complied with all applicable laws with respect to the acceptance of donations, and built Casa de 

Dios’ new church with funds from contributions by its congregation and other legitimate sources. 

51. Accordingly, on March 8, 2019, Plaintiffs made a demand on Univision for a full 
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and fair retraction, correction and apology as to the Broadcast and the Stories, a copy of which, 

without the attached exhibits, is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.  Univision failed and refused to 

comply with this demand. 

52. All conditions precedent to the filing and maintenance of this action have occurred, 

have been performed or have been waived. 

COUNT I 
(Defamation) 

 
53. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by this reference Paragraphs 1 through 52 as 

though fully set forth herein. 

54. Defendants made false statements of and concerning Plaintiffs, as specifically 

identified in Exhibits 1 through 9 attached hereto. 

55. These false statements wrongly accuse Plaintiffs of having acted in a manner that 

would subject them to hatred, distrust, contempt, aversion, ridicule and disgrace in the minds of a 

substantial number of people in Plaintiffs’ communities in Guatemala, Latin America and Spanish-

speaking areas of the United States, including Miami, Florida. 

56. The false statements, individually and jointly, tend to so harm the reputation of 

Plaintiffs as to lower their reputations in Plaintiffs’ communities in Guatemala, Latin America and 

Spanish-speaking areas of the United States, including Miami, Florida, and to deter others from 

associating or dealing with Plaintiffs.   

57. Furthermore, Defendants’ statements involve materially false implications.  

58. The statements made by Defendants were false, and no applicable privilege or 

authorization protecting the statements can attach to them. 

59. Defendants published these false statements to third parties, including but not 

limited to the viewers of Univision’s television network and/or readers of Univision.com.  
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60. In publishing these false statements, Defendants, at all times, either knew the 

statements were false, had serious doubts as to their truth, or published them with reckless disregard 

for, and in purposeful avoidance of, the truth.  Mr. Bernal, the primary source for Defendants’ 

stories (there is also one anonymous source who is another admitted criminal), is a criminal who 

admittedly transported cocaine for a Colombian drug cartel and has been arrested and deported 

from the United States.   

61. In relying upon Mr. Bernal as the primary source for its false statements, Defendants 

purposefully ignored statements by the Broward County trial judge presiding over Mr. Bernal’s 

felony criminal case, along with statements by Mr. Bernal’s own criminal defense attorney, that 

raised substantial questions regarding Mr. Bernal’s mental competency and credibility.   

62. Defendants also ignored nine (9) publicly available lawsuits filed by Mr. Bernal that 

confirmed the concerns raised by the judge and Mr. Bernal’s attorney regarding his competency 

and credibility.  Moreover, before Defendants published the stories at issue, Plaintiffs expressly 

informed them that any accusation regarding an alleged relationship between Pastor Luna and Ms. 

Chacón was false, that Mr. Bernal was not a reliable source and that the information Mr. Bernal 

provided to Defendants was false. 

63. Thus, Univision had obvious reasons to doubt Mr. Bernal’s veracity and the 

accuracy of his statements, and either knew that publicly filed, contemporaneous court records 

raised serious questions about his credibility and mental competency, or was obligated to undertake 

a basic investigation of Mr. Bernal, which would have quickly and easily yielded this information.  

Nonetheless, Univision purposefully ignored available information, and published the stories in 

reliance upon Mr. Bernal, thereby demonstrating its reckless disregard for the truth. 

64. Moreover, within two (2) days of publication of the first story, Ms. Chacón, through 
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her attorney, issued a statement to Univision, expressly stating that she never laundered any money 

through Pastor Luna or Casa de Dios.  Pastor Luna and Casa de Dios also immediately issued public 

statements refuting that they had any connection with Ms. Chacón, and requesting that Univision 

provide proof of any alleged connection between Pastor Luna and Ms. Chacón.   

65. Univision did not respond to this request, refused to retract the stories, and continued 

to publish additional stories containing the same or similar false and defamatory statements, 

notwithstanding the fact that Univision had no competent evidence for its false accusations and was 

recklessly disregarding the truth, including Mr. Bernal’s obvious mental competence, which fact 

was publicly and easily available to Univision. 

66. Defendants thus made a deliberate decision not to investigate facts that would have 

easily confirmed the falsity of the accusations against Plaintiffs, or published those falsities with 

knowledge that they were false.   

67. The aforementioned acts of Defendants were committed intentionally and/or with a 

conscious and/or reckless disregard of Plaintiffs’ rights, and with the intent to vex, injure or annoy, 

such as to constitute malice.  

68. As a direct and proximate result of the publication of the false and defamatory 

statements, Plaintiffs have suffered general and special economic injury, damage, loss and harm to 

their reputation, in an amount to be proven at trial, which damages are continuing in nature and will 

be suffered in the future. 

69. Defendants’ defamatory statements include statements that Plaintiffs engaged in 

criminal activity, which constitute defamation per se.  Damages for such statements may be 

presumed. 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand entry of a judgment against Defendants: 

1. for an award of general and special damages to be determined at trial;  

2. interest thereon at the maximum legal rate; 

3. costs; 

4. for a preliminary and permanent injunction against Defendants and all persons 

acting in concert with them, enjoining publication of the false statements pleaded herein; and 

5. for such other and further relief as to this Court may deem just and proper. 

RESERVATION OF RIGHT TO SEEK PUNITIVE DAMAGES 

                Plaintiffs reserve the right to bring a claim for punitive damages. 
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury on all issues so triable.  

 

Signed on this 5th day of June, 2019.  

 Respectfully submitted,   

 Law Offices of Jason Gordon, P.A. 
3440 Hollywood Blvd., Suite 415 
Hollywood, Florida 33021 
Telephone:  (954) 241-4207 
Facsimile:  (954) 241-4236 
E-mail:  jg@jgordonlegal.com 

 
       By:    /s/ Jason Gordon  ___ 

Jason Gordon, Esq. 
Fla. Bar No. 0012973 

 
 
By:  /s/ Charles J. Harder____________ 
Charles J. Harder, Esq. 
Pro Hac Vice Application Forthcoming 
E-mail:  CHarder@HarderLLP.com  
Ryan J. Stonerock, Esq. 
E-mail: RStonerock@HarderLLP.com 
Pro Hac Vice Application Forthcoming 
HARDER LLP 
132 S. Rodeo Drive, Fourth Floor 
Beverly Hills, California  90212 
Telephone:  (424) 203-1600 
Facsimile:  (424) 203-1601 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs Carlos Enrique Luna 
Lam and Iglesia Cristiana Casa de Dios 





EXHIBIT 1

The Story broadcasted on the Univision television network show Aqui y Ahora entitled 
Magnates De Dios 8, 

contains the following defamatory statements:

Time Stamp Statement Translation
1. 00:26-00:30 Voz en off: 

Hay quienes hablan de lavado 
de activos y nexos con el 
narcotráfico.

Narrator:
There are some who talk about 
asset laundering and links with 
drug trafficking.

2. 00:30-00:32 Jorge Herrera: 
[Pastor Luna] que venía un 
piloto del narcotráfico a hablar 
con ella.

Jorge Herrera: 
[Pastor Luna] knew that there was 
a drug cartel pilot coming to 
speak with him.

3. 9:39-9:45 Gerardo Reyes: 
¿Qué cantidad de bolsas, vio, 
le entregaban con el dinero [de 
Marllory Chacón Rosell] a 
Cash Luna?

Testigo oculto: 
Como medio costal, por ahí.

Gerardo Reyes: 
How many bags did you see were 
given with the money [from 
Marllory Chacón Rosell] to Cash 
Luna?

Anonymous Witness: 
Like half a sack, something like 
that.

4. 9:46-9:54 Voz en off: 
Un testigo asegura que Cash 
Luna recibió dinero de la 
narcotraficante Marllory 
Chacón, conocida como la 
Reina del Sur. 

Narrator:
A witness assures that Cash Luna 
received money from the drug 
smuggler Marllory Chacón, also 
known as the Queen of the South.

5. 13:45-14:00 Gerardo Reyes: 
Según él [Jorge Herrera], la 
obra [por Casa de Dios] recibió 
dinero de la narcotraficante 
guatemalteca Marllory Chacón 
Rosell, conocida como la 
Reina del Sur. El piloto 
colombiano afirma que en 
algunas de las reuniones con 
ella estaba Cash Luna.

Gerardo Reyes: 
According to him [Jorge Herrera], 
the building project [for Casa de 
Dios] received money from the 
Guatemalan drug dealer Marllory 
Chacón Rosell, also known as the 
Queen of the South. The 
Colombian pilot states that in 
some of the meetings with her, 
Cash Luna was there.

6. 14:01-14:08 Jorge Herrera:
Básicamente estaban hablando 
[Pastor Luna and Marllory
Chacón Rosell] de entregas de 
dinero porque, el pastor Cash 
Luna decía que necesitaban 

Jorge Herrera:
They [Pastor Luna and Marllory 
Chacón Rosell] were basically 
speaking about money deliveries, 
because pastor Cash Luna said 
that they needed to start the 



empezar a construir y avanzar 
la obra.

building project and advance the 
work.

7. 14:09-14:18 Gerardo Reyes: 
Herrera aclaró que Luna no se 
inmiscuía en cuestiones de 
narcotráfico, pero sabía que él 
era un piloto al servicio de un 
cartel colombiano.

Gerardo Reyes: 
Herrera clarified that Luna would 
never get involved in drug 
trafficking issues, but he knew 
that he was a pilot at the service 
of Colombian cartel.

8. 14:19-14:26 Jorge Herrera:
Él [Pastor Luna] sabía que 
venía un piloto del narcotráfico 
a hablar a hablar con [Marllory 
Chacón Rosell], sabía que 
Marllury era una 
narcotraficante, él sabía 
absolutamente todo.

Jorge Herrera:
He [Pastor Luna] knew that there 
was a drug trafficking pilot 
coming to talk with [Marllory 
Chacón Rosell], he knew that she 
was a drug dealer, he knew 
absolutely everything. 

9. 16:00-16:25 Gerardo Reyes: 
Este hombre [Testigo oculto] 
sostiene que la relación de la 
narcotraficante con Luna iba 
más allá de la de ser vecinos. 
Recuerda haber llevado dinero 
de Chacón a la casa del pastor, 
y de ser testigo de la relación 
entre Luna y Chacón, por lo 
que pidió no ser identificado. 

Gerardo Reyes: 
¿Qué cantidad de bolsas vio 
que le entregaban con el dinero 
a Cash Luna?

Testigo oculto: 
Una como medio costal, por 
ahí.

Gerardo Reyes: 
This man [Anonymous Witness] 
argues that the relationship 
between the drug dealer and Luna 
was more than just being 
neighbors. He remembers to have 

witness of the relationship 
between Luna and Chacón so he 
asked not to be identified. 

Gerardo Reyes: 
How many bags did you see were 
given with the money to Cash 
Luna?

Anonymous Witness: 
One like half-a-sack, around that.

10. 16:26-16:43 Gerardo Reyes: 
Según él [Testigo oculto], 
Chacón se quejaba de que 
Luna estaba siempre 
pidiéndole dinero.

Testigo oculto: 
Que yo sepa, le pedía dinero 
para su iglesia.

Gerardo Reyes: 
According to him [Anonymous 
Witness], Chacón complained 
that Luna was always asking her 
for money.

Anonymous Witness: 
As far as I know, he was asking 
for money for the church.



Gerardo Reyes:
¿Y ella cómo reaccionaba ante 
eso?

Testigo oculto:

Cada día quiere más. 
Porque él le pedía conforme a 
lo que ella tenía, o ingresos 
que ella tenía.

Gerardo Reyes:
And how did she react to that?

Anonymous Witness: 

more every day. Because he was 
asking according to what she had 
or the income that she had.
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The Story published on or about December 2, 2018 at https://www.univision.com
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o

Statement Translation
11. El lado oscuro de la Casa de Dios The dark side of  Casa de Dios
12. Las fuentes aseguran que el pastor 

Luna sacó provecho de su 
cercana amistad con Marllory Chacón, 
condenada en EEUU por narcotráfico.

Sources assure that Guatemalan Pastor Carlos 

friendship with Marllory Chacón, sentenced in 
the U.S. for drug smuggling.

13. Testimonios obtenidos por Univision 
apuntan a que hubo otra mano más 
mundana que sacó adelante al pastor 
[Pastor Luna] y a su iglesia [Casa de 
Dios]: la de una mujer que se 
presentaba como inversionista 
empresarial en Guatemala, pero cuya 
verdadera fortuna venía del 
narcotráfico y el lavado de dinero.

According to witness accounts obtained by 
Univision, there are more earthly factors to the 

[Pastor Luna] and his church
de Dios] success: a Guatemalan woman posing 
as an investor and businesswoman in 
Guatemala, but whose true fortune was as a 
result of drug smuggling and money 
laundering.

14. Marllory Chacón, según las fuentes, 
entregaba importantes cantidades de 
dinero al pastor [Pastor Luna].

According to the source, Marllory Chacón, 
was a major contributor of money to the pastor
[Pastor Luna].

15. Según Herrera, Luna estuvo presente 
en la primera reunión que él tuvo con 
Chacón a mediados de 2010 en 
Guatemala.

According to Herrera, Luna was in the first 
meeting he had with Chacón in Guatemala in 
2010.

16. [Pastor 
Luna and Marllory Chacón Rosell] de 
entregas de dinero porque el pastor 
'Cash' Luna decía que necesitaban ya 
empezar a construir (la iglesia) y 
avanzar porque la obra estaba en 

[Pastor Luna and Marllory Chacón 
Rosell] were basically talking about delivering 

they had laid the groundwork for the
construction [of the church] and needed to 

Herrera.

17. Según el piloto [Herrera], Luna era una 
persona cercana a Chacón.

According to the pilot [Herrera], Luna was
close to Chacón.

18. Pastor Luna], créame que era
] él era 

el consejero de Marllory. Es un 

explicó Herrera.
19. [Pastor Luna] sabía de 

sobra en qué negocio estaba su amiga 
Chacón y recibía dinero de ella.

[Pastor Luna] knew very well what 
business was and he accepted her 

money.



20. Él sabía [Pastor Luna] que venía un 
piloto del narcotráfico a hablar con 
ellos, sabía que había una organización, 
sabía que la otra persona conmigo era 
socia, sabía que Marllory era una 
narcotraficante. Él sabía absolutamente 

He [Pastor Luna] knew that a drug smuggling 
pilot was coming to talk to them. He knew 
there was an organization and that the other 
individual with me was a partner. He knew 
that Marllory was a drug dealer. He knew 

describing the events at the time.
21. Otra persona cercana a la familia 

Chacón, pero que pidió no ser 
identificada, explicó a Univision que 
llevó dinero en efectivo a la casa de 
Luna por órdenes de Chacón.

to remain anonymous, told Univision that they 

orders.

22.
fuente, al explicar que se trataba de 
unas bolsas de fieltro que se usan para 
el transporte de valores. Las bolsas 
contenían dólares y las entregó en un 
lugar que era 

explaining that they were felt bags used for 
transporting valuables. The bags contained 
dollars and he delivered it to a place known as 

e of Horses), he 
added.

23. Según la fuente, Luna le pedía 
constantemente dinero a Chacón, lo 
que a ella le disgustaba.

[Pastor 
Luna] 
fuente que decía Chacón.

According to the source, Luna constantly 
asked Chacón for money, which bothered her.

quoting Chacón.
24. [casa de Marllory 

Chacón Rosell] en dar la autorización 
Luna. Él 

[of Marllory 
and authorize our 

The Story includes a video by Aqui y Ahora Todo Por Cash anslation: 
, which contains the following defamatory statements:

Time Stamp Statement Translation
25. 3:36-3:51 Gerardo Reyes: 

Según él [Jorge Herrera], la 
obra [por Casa de Dios] recibió 
dinero de la narcotraficante 
guatemalteca Marllory Chacón 
Rosell, conocida como la 
Reina del Sur. El piloto 
colombiano afirma que en 
algunas de las reuniones con 
ella estaba Cash Luna.

Gerardo Reyes: 
According to him [Jorge Herrera], 
the building project [for Casa de 
Dios] received money from the 
Guatemalan drug dealer Marllory 
Chacón Rosell, also known as the 
Queen of the South. The 
Colombian pilot states that in 
some of the meetings with her, 
Cash Luna was there.



26. 3:52-3:59 Jorge Herrera:
Básicamente estaban hablando 
[Pastor Luna and Marllory
Chacón Rosell] de entregas de 
dinero porque, el pastor Cash 
Luna decía que necesitaban 
empezar a construir y avanzar 
la obra.

Jorge Herrera:
They [Pastor Luna and Marllory 
Chacón Rosell] were basically 
speaking about money deliveries, 
because pastor Cash Luna said 
that they needed to start the 
building project and advance the 
work.

27. 4:00-4:09 Gerardo Reyes: 
Herrera aclaró que Luna no se 
inmiscuía en cuestiones de 
narcotráfico, pero sabía que él 
era un piloto al servicio de un 
cartel colombiano.

Gerardo Reyes: 
Herrera clarifies that Luna would
never get involved in drug 
trafficking issues, but he knew 
that he was a pilot at the service 
of a Colombian cartel.

28. 4:10-4:17 Jorge Herrera:
Él [Pastor Luna] sabía que 
venía un piloto del narcotráfico 
a hablar a hablar con [Marllory 
Chacón Rosell], sabía que 
Marllury era una 
narcotraficante, él sabía 
absolutamente todo.

Jorge Herrera:
He [Pastor Luna] knew that there 
was a drug trafficking pilot 
coming to talk with [Marllory 
Chacón Rosell], he knew that she 
was a drug dealer, he knew 
absolutely everything. 

29. 5:51-6:16 Gerardo Reyes: 
Este hombre [Testigo oculto] 
sostiene que la relación de la 
narcotraficante con Luna iba 
más allá de la de ser vecinos. 
Recuerda haber llevado dinero 
de Chacón a la casa del pastor, 
y de ser testigo de la relación 
entre Luna y Chacón, por lo 
que pidió no ser identificado. 

Gerardo Reyes: 
¿Qué cantidad de bolsas vio 
que le entregaban con el dinero 
a Cash Luna?

Testigo oculto: 
Una como medio costal, por 
ahí.

Gerardo Reyes: 
This man [Anonymous Witness] 
argues that the relationship 
between the drug dealer and Luna 
was more than just being 
neighbors. He remembers to have 

witness of the relationship 
between Luna and Chacón so he 
asked not to be identified. 

Gerardo Reyes: 
How many bags did you see were 
given with the money to Cash 
Luna?

Anonymous Witness: 
One like half-a-sack, around that.



30. 6:17-6:34 Gerardo Reyes: 
Según él [Testigo oculto], 
Chacón se quejaba de que 
Luna estaba siempre 
pidiéndole dinero.

Testigo oculto: 
Que yo sepa, le pedía dinero 
para su iglesia.

Gerardo Reyes:
¿Y ella cómo reaccionaba ante 
eso?

Testigo oculto:

Cada día quiere más. 
Porque él le pedía conforme a 
lo que ella tenía, o ingresos 
que ella tenía.

Gerardo Reyes: 
According to him [Anonymous 
Witness], Chacón complained 
that Luna was always asking her 
for money.

Anonymous Witness: 
As far as I know, he was asking 
for money for the church.

Gerardo Reyes:
And how did she react to that?

Anonymous Witness: 

more every day. Because he was 
asking according to what she had 
or the income that she had.
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EXHIBIT 3

The Story published on or about December 2, 2018 at https://www.univision.com/
shows/aqui-y-ahora/de-donde-salieron-los-millones-para-financiar-su-templo-la-pregunta-que-
rodea-a-la-casa-de-dios-video bearing the heading 

million
contains the following defamatory statement:

Statement Translation
31.

financiar su templo? La pregunta que 
Where did the millions come from to finance 
their temple? The ques

The Story includes a video by Aqui y Ahora Todo Por Cash
Everything for Cash , which contains the following defamatory statements:

Time Stamp Statement Translation
32. 3:36-3:51 Gerardo Reyes: 

Según él [Jorge Herrera], la 
obra [por Casa de Dios] recibió 
dinero de la narcotraficante 
guatemalteca Marllory Chacón 
Rosell, conocida como la 
Reina del Sur. El piloto 
colombiano afirma que en 
algunas de las reuniones con 
ella estaba Cash Luna.

Gerardo Reyes: 
According to him [Jorge Herrera], 
the building project [for Casa de 
Dios] received money from the 
Guatemalan drug dealer Marllory 
Chacón Rosell, also known as the 
Queen of the South. The 
Colombian pilot states that in 
some of the meetings with her, 
Cash Luna was there. 

33. 3:52-3:59 Jorge Herrera:
Básicamente estaban hablando 
[Pastor Luna and Marllory 
Chacón Rosell] de entregas de 
dinero porque, el pastor Cash 
Luna decía que necesitaban 
empezar a construir y avanzar 
la obra.

Jorge Herrera:
They [Pastor Luna and Marllory 
Chacón Rosell] were basically 
speaking about money deliveries, 
because pastor Cash Luna said 
that they needed to start the 
building project and advance the 
work.

34. 4:00-4:09 Gerardo Reyes: 
Herrera aclaró que Luna no se 
inmiscuía en cuestiones de 
narcotráfico, pero sabía que él 
era un piloto al servicio de un 
cartel colombiano.

Gerardo Reyes: 
Herrera clarifies that Luna would 
never get involved in drug 
trafficking issues, but he knew 
that he was a pilot at the service 
of Colombian cartel.

35. 4:10-4:17 Jorge Herrera:
Él [Pastor Luna] sabía que 
venía un piloto del narcotráfico 
a hablar a hablar con [Marllory 

Jorge Herrera:
He [Pastor Luna] knew that there 
was a drug trafficking pilot 
coming to talk with [Marllory 



Chacón Rosell], sabía que 
Marllury era una 
narcotraficante, él sabía 
absolutamente todo.

Chacón Rosell], he knew that she 
was a drug dealer, he knew 
absolutely everything. 

36. 5:51-6:16 Gerardo Reyes: 
Este hombre [Testigo oculto] 
sostiene que la relación de la 
narcotraficante con Luna iba 
más allá de la de ser vecinos. 
Recuerda haber llevado dinero 
de Chacón a la casa del pastor, 
y de ser testigo de la relación 
entre Luna y Chacón, por lo 
que pidió no ser identificado. 

Gerardo Reyes: 
¿Qué cantidad de bolsas vio 
que le entregaban con el dinero 
a Cash Luna?

Testigo oculto: 
Una como medio costal, por 
ahí.

Gerardo Reyes: 
This man [Anonymous Witness] 
argues that the relationship 
between the drug dealer and Luna 
was more than just being 
neighbors. He remembers to have 

witness of the relationship 
between Luna and Chacón so he 
asked not to be identified. 

Gerardo Reyes: 
How many bags did you see were 
given with the money to Cash 
Luna?

Anonymous Witness: 
One like half-a-sack, around that.

37. 6:17-6:34 Gerardo Reyes: 
Según él [Testigo oculto], 
Chacón se quejaba de que 
Luna estaba siempre 
pidiéndole dinero.

Testigo oculto: 
Que yo sepa, le pedía dinero 
para su iglesia.

Gerardo Reyes:
¿Y ella cómo reaccionaba ante 
eso?

Testigo oculto:

Cada día quiere más. 
Porque él le pedía conforme a 
lo que ella tenía, o ingresos 
que ella tenía.

Gerardo Reyes: 
According to him [Anonymous 
Witness], Chacón complained 
that Luna was always asking her 
for money.

Anonymous Witness: 
As far as I know, he was asking 
for money for the church.

Gerardo Reyes:
And how did she react to that?

Anonymous Witness: 

more every day. Because he was 
asking according to what she had 
or the income that she had.
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EXHIBIT 4

The Story published on or about December 4, 2018 at https://www.univision.com
/noticias/univision-investiga/fiscalia-de-guatemala-confirma-que-inicio-investigacion-sobre-
pastor-cash-luna-por-reportaje-de-univision-investiga
Guatemala confirma que inició investigación sobre

statements: 

Statement Translation
38. Un día después de que Univision 

transmitió la investigación Magnates 
de Dios , la Fiscalía de Guatemala 
confirmó que ha iniciado una 
investigación de oficio para indagar en 
el contenido de dos testimonios que 
señalan que el pastor guatemalteco 

dinero de la narcotraficante Marllory 
Chacón, alias La Reina del Sur.

report on , the 

opening an investigation ex officio to probe 
into the content of two testimonies that point to 

allegedly receiving money from drug smuggler 

39. Un reportaje de esa investigación 
reveló que dos testigos señalaban 
directamente una supuesta relación 

fundador de la iglesia Casa de Dios, y 
Chacón.

A report on that investigation revealed that two 
witnesses directly pointed to an alleged 

founder of Casa de Dios Church and Chacón.

40. [Jorge Herrera] 
participaron en varias reuniones con 
Chacón y que él [Pastor Luna] le pedía 
dinero para su iglesia.

he [Jorge Herrera] said that he and Luna 
participated in several meetings with Chacón 
where he [Pastor Luna] would ask for money 
for his church.

41. Las supuestas entregas de dinero [de 
Marllory Chacón Rosell a Pastor Luna] 
habrían ocurrido antes de que el mega
templo de la iglesia Casa de Dios fuese 
inaugurado, en 2013.

The alleged money deliveries [from, Marllory 
Chacón Rosell to Pastor Luna] took place prior
to the inauguration of Casa d
sanctuary in 2013.

The Story includes a video by Aqui y Ahora Todo Por Cash
Everything for Cash , which contains the following defamatory statements:

Time Stamp Statement Translation
42. 3:36-3:51 Gerardo Reyes: 

Según él [Jorge Herrera], la 
obra [por Casa de Dios] recibió 
dinero de la narcotraficante 
guatemalteca Marllory Chacón 

Gerardo Reyes: 
According to him [Jorge Herrera], 
the building project [for Casa de 
Dios] received money from the 
Guatemalan drug dealer Marllory 



Rosell, conocida como la 
Reina del Sur. El piloto 
colombiano afirma que en 
algunas de las reuniones con 
ella estaba Cash Luna.

Chacón Rosell, also known as the 
Queen of the South. The 
Colombian pilot states that in 
some of the meetings with her, 
Cash Luna was there. 

43. 3:52-3:59 Jorge Herrera:
Básicamente estaban hablando 
[Pastor Luna and Marllory 
Chacón Rosell] de entregas de 
dinero porque, el pastor Cash 
Luna decía que necesitaban 
empezar a construir y avanzar 
la obra.

Jorge Herrera:
They [Pastor Luna and Marllory 
Chacón Rosell] were basically 
speaking about money deliveries, 
because pastor Cash Luna said 
that they needed to start the 
building project and advance the 
work.

44. 4:00-4:09 Gerardo Reyes: 
Herrera aclaró que Luna no se 
inmiscuía en cuestiones de 
narcotráfico, pero sabía que él 
era un piloto al servicio de un 
cartel colombiano.

Gerardo Reyes: 
Herrera clarifies that Luna would 
never get involved in drug 
trafficking issues, but he knew 
that he was a pilot at the service 
of Colombian cartel.

45. 4:10-4:17 Jorge Herrera:
Él [Pastor Luna] sabía que 
venía un piloto del narcotráfico 
a hablar a hablar con [Marllory 
Chacón Rosell], sabía que 
Marllury era una 
narcotraficante, él sabía 
absolutamente todo.

Jorge Herrera:
He [Pastor Luna] knew that there 
was a drug trafficking pilot 
coming to talk with [Marllory 
Chacón Rosell], he knew that she 
was a drug dealer, he knew 
absolutely everything. 

46. 5:51-6:16 Gerardo Reyes: 
Este hombre [Testigo oculto] 
sostiene que la relación de la 
narcotraficante con Luna iba 
más allá de la de ser vecinos. 
Recuerda haber llevado dinero 
de Chacón a la casa del pastor, 
y de ser testigo de la relación 
entre Luna y Chacón, por lo 
que pidió no ser identificado. 

Gerardo Reyes: 
¿Qué cantidad de bolsas vio 
que le entregaban con el dinero 
a Cash Luna?

Gerardo Reyes: 
This man [Anonymous Witness] 
argues that the relationship 
between the drug dealer and Luna 
was more than just being 
neighbors. He remembers to have 
ta

witness of the relationship 
between Luna and Chacón so he 
asked not to be identified. 

Gerardo Reyes: 
How many bags did you see were 
given with the money to Cash 
Luna?



Testigo oculto: 
Una como medio costal, por 
ahí.

Anonymous Witness: 
One like half-a-sack, around that.

47. 6:17-6:34 Gerardo Reyes: 
Según él [Testigo oculto], 
Chacón se quejaba de que 
Luna estaba siempre 
pidiéndole dinero.

Testigo oculto: 
Que yo sepa, le pedía dinero 
para su iglesia.

Gerardo Reyes:
¿Y ella cómo reaccionaba ante 
eso?

Testigo oculto:

Cada día quiere más. 
Porque él le pedía conforme a 
lo que ella tenía, o ingresos 
que ella tenía.

Gerardo Reyes: 
According to him [Anonymous 
Witness], Chacón complained 
that Luna was always asking her 
for money.

Anonymous Witness: 
As far as I know, he was asking 
for money for his church.

Gerardo Reyes:
And how did she react to that?

Anonymous Witness: 

more every day. Because he was 
asking according to what she had 
or the income that she had.
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EXHIBIT 5

The Story published on or about The December 5, 2018 at https://www.univision.com
/shows/noticiero-univision/fiscalia-de-guatemala-inicia-una-investigacion-acerca-del-pastor-
cash-luna-de-la-iglesia-casa-de-dios-video bearing the headline bearing 
inicia una i Luna de la iglesia

contains the following defamatory statements:

Statement Translation 
48.

que ha iniciado una investigación de 
oficio para indagar sobre dos 
testimonios que señalan que el pastor 
guatemalteco [Pastor Luna] 
presuntamente recibió dinero de la 
narcotraficante Marllory Chacón, alias 

.

confirmed that they opened an ex oficio
investigation to inquire into the testimonies 
that point to the Guatemalan pastor [Pastor 
Luna] allegedly receiving money from the 
drug dealer Marllory Chacó The Queen 

.

The Story includes a video by Noticiero Univision Magnates De Dios
, which contains the following defamatory statements:

Time Stamp Statement Translation
49. 00:54-1:02 Erika Porras: 

La investigación indagará 
sobre las declaraciones de dos 
testigos que señalan a Cash 
Luna de recibir dinero de la 
narcotraficante Marllory 
Chacón alias La reina del sur.

Erika Porras: 
The investigation will inquire 
regarding the declarations of the 
witnesses that accused Cash Luna 
of receiving money from the drug 
dealer Marllory Chacón aka The 
Queen of the South. 
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EXHIBIT 6

The Story published on or about December 12, 2018 located at https://www.univision.
com/geografia/america-central/el-pastor-de-guatemala-cash-luna-niega-vinculo-con-
narcotraficante El pasto con 

contains the following defamatory statements: 

Statement Translation
50. El pastor de Guatemala Cash Luna 

with drug trafficker
51. Univision Investiga publicara un 

magnates de Dios" en el que se incluyó 
las declaraciones de fuentes de que 
Luna recibió dinero de Chacón para su 
iglesia, la Casa de Dios.

Univision Investiga published a special report 
called Magnates of the Lord which included 
the testimonies from sources affirming that 
Luna received money from Chacón for his 
church, Casa de Dios.

52. El informe del 2 de diciembre, en el 
que Univision examinó la riqueza de 
las iglesias evangélicas y de sus 
pastores, incluyó entrevistas con 
fuentes que afirmaron que Chacón 
entregaba dinero a Luna. Una de ellas 
que llevó dinero de Chacón a la casa 
del pastor de ciudad de Guatemala.

The December 2nd report, in which Univision 
examined the wealth of evangelical churches 
and its pastors, included interviews with 
sources in which it was affirmed that Chacón
gave money to Luna.  One of them took money 

Guatemala City.  
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EXHIBIT 7

The Story published on or about December 13, 2018 at https://www.univision.com/
especiales/noticias/2018/magnates-of-the-lord/
contains the following defamatory statements: 

Statement
53. The Dark Side of the House of God
54. Sources say 

friendship with a drug trafficker known as the Queen of the South, who was later jailed 
in the U.S.

55.
witness accounts, there are more earthly factors to his success, including a Guatemalan 
businesswoman jailed for drug smuggling and money laundering.

56.
was a major contributor of money to the pastor.

57. According to Herrera, Luna was in the first meeting he had with Chacón in Guatemala in 
2010

58. [Pastor Luna and [Marllory Chacón Rosell] were basically talking about 
ey had laid the groundwork for 

(building) the church and needed to move forward w
59. According to the pilot, Luna was close to Chacón.
60. Pastor right hand. He was her advisor. To 

61. [H]e [Pastor Luna] knew very well what her [Marllory Chacón Rosell] business was and 
he accepted her money.

62. [Pastor Luna] knew that a drug smuggling pilot was coming to talk to them. He 
knew there was an organization and that I had a partner. He knew that Marllory was a 

cribing the events at the 
time.

63. nonymous, told Univision that 
they took money to L

64. According to the source, Luna constantly asked Chacón for money, which bothered her. 
he source said, quoting 

Chacón.
65. [of Marllory Chacón and authorize our access 

in.
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EXHIBIT 8

The Story published on or about December 13, 2018 located at http://webapp.univision.
com/especiales/noticias/2018/magnates-of-the-lord

contains the following defamatory statement: 

Statement
66. In one case, the House of God in Guatemala, pastor C Luna was linked to a 

drug trafficker, according to several sources.
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EXHIBIT 9

The Story published on or about March 7, 2019 located at https://www.univision.
com/noticias/narcotrafico/libre-la-reina-del-sur-asi-logro-de-manera-sigilosa-salir-de-la-carcel-
la-narcotraficante : así consiguió discretamente 
salir tras pasar menos de 5 años en prisión , : how 
she discreetly managed to get out after spending less than 5 years in prison
following defamatory statements: 

Statement Translation
67. Todo esto sucedía mientras ella 

[Marllory Chacón Rosell] habitaba una 
lujosa residencia en la capital 
guatemalteca y tenía estrecha relación 
con la clase política de su país. Chacón 
era vecina en un conjunto cerrado de 
tres viviendas del popular pastor 
evangélico Carlos Luna, más conocido 
como Cash Luna.

All of this happened while she [Marllory 
Chacón Rosell] was living in a luxury 
residence in the Guatemalan capital and she 
had a close relationship with the political class 
of her country.  Chacón was neighbors in a 
close community of three homes, with the 
popular evangelical pastor Carlos Luna, better 
known as Cash Luna.

68. En diciembre de 2018, esta misma 
vocera [de la fiscalía de Guatemala] 
había confirmado a Univision que su 
oficina estaba abriendo una 
investigación para indagar en la 
presunta entrega de dinero de Chacón a 
Carlos Luna, líder de la iglesia Casa de 
Dios.

El anuncio sucedió luego de que 
Univision Investiga publicara la 

, que reveló el testimonio de dos 
personas que afirmaron que Luna 
habría recibido dinero de Chacón para 
la construcción del mega templo de 
Casa de Dios en Ciudad de Guatemala. 

In December of 2018, this same spokesperson 
[of the Guatemalan Prosecutor had 
confirmed with Univision that their office was 
opening an investigation to look into the 
supposed delivery of money from Chacón to 
Carlos Luna, leader of the church Casa de 
Dios.

The announcement came after Univision 
Investiga had published its special 
investigation Magnates of the Lord , which 
revealed the testimony of two people that 
affirmed that Luna had received money from 
Chacón for the construction of the mega-
temple of Casa de Dios in Guatemala City.












	Complaint - Pages 1 to 80
	Complaint - Pages 81 to 115



